THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

AUG 25 2022

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

Hon. Bentley D. Price
Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-000504

Wilmington Savings Fund Society FSB, not in its individual capacity but solely
As owner trustee for CSMC 2018-RPL6 Trust, Respondent

v.

Rex A. Field, Tracy L. Field, Dulamo Estates Home Owner's Association, Inc., Defendants

Of whom Rex A. Field and Tracy L. Field are the Appellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

J. Cameron Halford, LLC
S.C. Bar No. 17184
4609 Charlotte Highway, Suite 3
Lake Wylie, South Carolina 29710
803-619-4177
e-mail: cam@halfordlaw.net

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

At issue in this appeal is whether the April 15, 2021 ruling of the chief administrative judge striking the jury trial demand of the defendants was abuse of discretion controlled by error of law. Plaintiffs allege the court denied motions not properly before the court on April 15, 2021 and that in error the court struck defendant’s jury demand failing to first engage in logical relationship test under the supreme court precedent of N.C. Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n v. DAV Corp., 298 S.C. 514, 518, 381 S.E.2d 903, 905 (1989). Appellants allege error where the court failed to evaluate whether defendants’ pending amended counterclaims were compulsory or permissive prior to referring the case to the non-jury status.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a foreclosure action filed by Respondent Wilmington Savings Fund Society FSB on October 11, 2019. (R. pp. 35-42). Plaintiff brought the action not in its individual capacity. Rather, it brought this action as “*owner trustee*” for a CSMC 2018-RPL6 Trust. Prior to the case properly commencing by filing *and service* (*emphasis), A Rule 53 SCRPC compulsory order of reference was entered by the clerk of court under Wilmington’s motion. (R. p. 5-6). The very day of service, defendants acting pro se file demand for jury trial. (R. p. 44; 47-49). By order of the Beaufort County Master Hon. Marvin Dukes, the Order of Reference is vacated without prejudice. (R. p. 8). Some twenty two months later amended counterclaims by defendants are approved by Judge Robert J. Bond August 12, 2021. But, not before order striking jury demand by Judge Bentley Price on the date of April 20, 2021 (four months earlier). (R. p. 29-34). Judge Price likewise denied Plaintiff’s motions to amend this date. (R. p. 1626 at 11), which action does not appear in the Order. Appellants respectfully assert the rulings affected substantial right and mode of trial they were entitled to as a matter of law and in violation of rights guaranteed to the Fields by the constitution in this state. Broom v. Watts, 319 S.C. 337, 461 S.E.2d 46 (1995).

On April 15, 2021 the case is confirmed to be on the jury roster for Judge McCoy. (R. p. 1618 line 24). “Madame clerk, on the online public index it says Court Roster CP Jury, McCoy, May 11, 2011. Does that mean its on her *jury trial roster* ?” (R. p. 1618-1619 lines 1-5). Court clerk, Karen Johnson, responds affirmatively “yes.” “*That’s what that means on there?*” Yes. (R. p. 1619 lines 3-4). So, this is on the docket for May 11th ? “*Correct.*” The court: “For a *jury trial* (*sic). Okay. Mr. Field, I’ll be happy to hear from you as to your motion to dismiss.”. (R. p. 1619 at 8-9). The motion to dismiss is denied by Form-4. (R. p. 14). Wilmington’s motion to strike jury demand is granted, however. (R. p.14).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The case has appeared on the general roster since November 11, 2019 - the date Master in Equity Judge Dukes vacates the compulsory Order of Reference. (R. p. 8). The last judge to review mode of trial issues, however, is Judge Bentley Price. Judge Price enters an order striking defendant's jury trial demand. (R. p. 14). The court notes the extensive record in the case: "*There's 163 filings in this case.*" (R. p. 1608 line 9.) The Form-4 filed by the chief administrative judge omits any logical relation analysis as to amended counterclaims being compulsory or permissive. "*All right. So this is a foreclosure action correct, from 2019 ? ... All right.*

And do the fields still reside in the residence ?" (R. p. 1607 at 15). "When was the last time they made a payment on the home ?" (R. p. 1608 lines 4-5).

The court strictly construes the case as a debt collection, and nothing more, thus mandating referral to the non-jury roster. This occurs where discovery is not complete, and there are discovery noncompliance issues, including motions for sanctions. (R. p. 1608 at 16-18). However, Wilmington's motion to extend time to answer discovery is granted. "I'll take the plaintiff's motion to extend time under advisement. But, *the first one up* (*sic) is plaintiff's motion to strike defendant's demand for jury trial." (R. p. 1608 at 13-16). The court is advised of the Salon Proz case as to logical relation test affecting note enforceability (R. p. 1609 at 12-14). In reference to counterclaims, plaintiff counsel advises the court "*So, if they are compulsory, then that (sic) the Fields would be entitled to jury trial.*" (Id. at 7-8). "...And I am referring this to the master for foreclosure. All right." (R. p. 1626, lines 11-17). This never occurs.

The case does not return to the master, the next judge to rule on the case is Judge Robert Bonds. (R. p. 29 at 33) The last motions as to discovery compliance and amended counterclaims and third party complaint are heard by Judge Bonds on August 12, 2021. (R. p. 30, at ¶3). Prior to this, on the date of April 15, 2021 defendant's hands are bound, however. Moreover, the case

evidences one circuit judge not permitting amended counterclaims and third party complaint, yet another judge granting them. (R. p. 32 at ¶G). *But, see* (R. p. 32, at ¶G). The case evidences intent to refer the case to the master in equity, who previously *vacated* a compulsory order of reference; the case being on the general roster since that time. The maelstrom ruling on all pending motions by Judge Price is as follows :¹

The Court: All right. The motion to joint the third party defendants is denied. Motion to dismiss the counterclaims is granted. Motion to dismiss the complaint is denied. Motion to enforce sanctions is denied. And motion to strike the jury trial is granted. *And I am referring this to the master for foreclosure.*” (R. p. 1626 at 11-17); *see also* (R.p.1619 at 4-7)

I. WAS IT ABUSE OF DISCRETION FOR THE COURT TO RULE UPON MOTIONS IMPLICATING JURY TRIAL DEMAND WHERE DEFENDANTS OBJECTED AND NO TEN DAY NOTICE OF HEARING ?

Judge Price strikes jury demand of the defendants, despite the Fields having answered the complaint and asserted amended counterclaims and third party complaint with demand for trial by jury. (R. p. 44; see also, R. p. 47). From day one the Fields have knowingly asserted, protected, and in fact (twice) demanded jury trial. (R. p. 61). Appellants now appeal the ruling as affecting mode of trial rights to which defendants are entitled as a matter of right, pursuant to Rule 38 SCRPC and the Constitution of the State of South Carolina. S.C. Const. Article I §14. “Orders affecting the mode of trial affect substantial rights under S.C. Code Ann. §14-3-330(2) (1997) and must, therefore, be appealed immediately. First Union Nat. Bank of S.C. v. Soden, 333 S.C. 554, 565, 511 S.E.2d 372, 377 (Ct. App. 1998). Appellants respectfully assert it was abuse of discretion and error of law to strike defendant’s demand for jury trial where discovery was yet incomplete, there were pending discovery noncompliance issues including motion for sanctions, and the court

¹ In scheduling e-mail correspondences with the court the Fields contend that they did not waive, and in fact objected to, hearing of the motions being scheduled for April 15, 2021 where they did not receive ten (10) days notice from the court or from Respondents’ counsel.

failed to employ a logical relationship test. “Orders affecting the mode of trial affect substantial rights under S.C. Code Ann. §14-3-330(2) and must, therefore, be appealed immediately. South Carolina Community Bank v. Salon Proz, LLC (quoting First Union Nat. Bank v. Soden, 333 S.C. 554, 565, 511 S.E.2d 372, 377 (Ct. App. 1998)).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The right to trial by jury shall be preserved inviolate. S.C. Const. Art. I, §14. The right to jury trial is a *substantial* right, and any contended waiver of the right to trial by jury is strictly construed. Broom v. Watts, 319 S.C. 337, 340, 461 S.E.2d 46 (1995). Rule 53, SCRPC, provides that “[a]ny party may request a jury pursuant to Rule 38 on any or all issues triable of right by jury and, upon the filing of a jury demand, the matter shall be returned to the circuit court.” Waiver is the voluntary and intentional relinquishment of a known right. Provident Life and Accident Ins. Co. v. Driver, 317 S.C. 471, 451 S.E.2d 924, 928 (Ct. App. 1994). Whether a party is entitled to a jury trial is a questions of law. Verenes v. Alvanos, 387 S.C. 11, 15, 690 S.E.2d 771, 772 (2010). “A mortgage foreclosure is an action in equity.” Wachovia Bank, Nat. Ass’n v. Blackburn, 407 S.C. 321, 328, 755 S.E.2d 437, 440 (2014) (quoting Hayne Fed. Credit Union v. Bailey, S.C. 242, 248, 489 S.E.2d 472, 475 (1997)). However, [w]hether a party is entitled to a jury trial is a question of law.” Verenes v. Alvanos, 387 S.C. 11, 15, 690 S.E.2d 771, 772 (2010). An appellate court may decide questions of law with no particular deference to the [lower] court. Id. at 15. In appeal from an action in equity tried by a judge, appellate courts may find facts in accord with their own views of the preponderance of the evidence. Blackburn, at 328. An order denying a party a mode of trial to which he is entitled is immediately appealable and must be appealed immediately and cannot be challenged in an appeal from final judgment. Lester v. Dawson, 327 S.C. 263, 491 S.E.2d 240 (1997).

A counterclaim is compulsory if it arises out of the *same transaction or occurrence that is the subject of Plaintiff's claim* and it does not require that third parties be added as parties to the case. Rule 13(a), SCRPC. Compulsory, at-law counterclaims made by a defendant in an equity case (in which the plaintiff has asserted only causes that sound in equity) must be tried by a jury if a jury demand has been made on the claim. Wachovia Bank, N.A. v. Blackburn, 407 S.C. 321, 755 S.E.2d 437 (2014); Johnson v. S.C. Nat. Bank, 292 S.C. 51, 54-56, 354 S.E. 895 (1987). A counterclaim is compulsory “*if it arises out of the same transaction or occurrence as the opposing party's claim[,]*”, which is ascertained by determining whether there is “*any logical relationship between the claim and the counterclaim[,]*” N.C. Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. DAV Corp., 298 S.C. 514, 518, 381 S.E.2d 903, 905 (1989). An order denying a jury trial is not immediately appealable unless it deprives the party of a mode of trial to which he is entitled as a matter of right. C&S Real Estate Servs., Inc. v. Massengale, 290 S.C. 299, 350 S.E.2d 191 (1986). The Fields necessarily appeal asserting trial court abuse of discretion under controlling error of law as to mode of trial issues and rights guaranteed by the state constitution. *See*, Soden, 333 S.C. 554 (Ct. App. 1998). “The failure to immediately appeal an order affecting the mode of trial effects a waiver of the right to appeal that issue.” Id.

ARGUMENT

The majority of cases requiring an immediate appeal involve review of denials of trial by jury and are based on the public policy consideration of advancing the constitutional mandate to preserve the right to trial by jury inviolate. Senter v. Piggly Wiggly Carolina Co., 341 S.C. 74, 533 S.E.2d 575 (2000). The constitution of this state, Article I §14 provides the right to trial by jury shall be preserved inviolate. The issue of law in the case sub judice is whether the trial court erred by classifying the case as merely a debt collection where the court fails to properly analyze logical

relation and nexxus of filed amended compulsory counterclaims. The court on April 15, 2021 fails to enter any logical relationship analysis. (R. p. 1626 lines 11-15); (*see, also* R. p. 1627 lines 3-25). The court improperly infers waiver by the defendants following two (2) properly filed jury trial demands. *See, Keels*, 315 S.C. at 342, 433 S.E.2d at 904 (“In the absence of an express agreement or consent, a waiver of the right to a jury trial will not be presumed.”). *Id.* at 342. It is not disputed that the Fields have – twice – asserted valid demand for jury trial. (R. p.44; R.p. 70).

- I. It was abuse of discretion and error for the trial court to infer waiver of jury trial right without evaluating substance of the defendants’ counterclaims and to rule on motions by hearings not properly before the court.

Scheduling communications via e-mail evidence that no notice of hearing has been filed by Wilmington counsel, or entered by the clerk of court. (R. p. 1824 at ¶(15)). The Fields notify court staff that they object given they have not been properly noticed, to no avail. (R. p. 1831). The hearings will go forward at the request of Wilmington, irrespective of not notice of hearing being filed. (R. p. 1626 lines 11-15). Appellants appear for the hearing which strikes their demand for jury trial. Appellants assert it was an abuse of discretion for circuit court judge Price to presume or infer consent or the Field’s waiver of jury trial demand on April 15, 2021. (R.p. 1626). Inexplicably, a foreclosure is somehow appearing on the general roster. (R. p. 1613 at 3-4). Judge Price is advised by the clerk that a 2019 case sounding in equity is on Judge McCoy’s roster. “Madame Clerk, the online public index it says Court Roster CP Jury, McCoy, May 11, 2021. Does that mean it is on *her jury trial* roster ? . “That’s *what that means* on there ?” With an affirmative response from the clerk, the court goes on “for a *jury (*sic)* trial. *Okay.* (Rp. P. 1619 at 4-14). The Fields’ motion to dismiss meets with brevity. (R. p. 1626 at 14-15). Wilmington’s motion to strike jury demand meets with equal haste. (*Id.* at 13); (R. p. 1628 at 18-21). Abuse of discretion and legal error enters here. No logical relationship analysis will enter the trial judge’s

review of the causes of action. Rather, the circuit judge focus on payment history and the length of time the case has been on the general roster. “*When was the last time they made a payment on the home?*” (R. p. 1608 at 4-5); *see also*, (R. p. 1649 at 20-25); *further see*, (R. p. 1597 at 20-22). The court has presumed enforceability of the note and mortgage without evidence to support its ruling, particularly where discovery is yet pending and the Fields (pro se) have had to move for sanctions due to discovery noncompliance.

II. It was error for the trial court to strike the Fields demand for jury without engaging in logical relationship test analysis.

A counterclaims is compulsory “*if it arises out of the same transaction or occurrence as the opposing party’s claim[,]*” which is ascertained by determining whether there is “*any logical relationship between the claim and counterclaim[.]*” DAV, 298 S.C. at 517, 518 (emphasis added). Appellants allege that failure to engage in the logical relationship test was prejudicial error. (R. p. 1626 lines 11-16). It not only disregarded the Field’s constitutional rights, by implication it does away with the very flexibility that was the reason for the Supreme Court’s choice of the logical relationship test where mode of trial issues exist. DAV at 518. Under these circumstances, the strike of jury demand is no different than a clerk entry of compulsory reference, no matter how inadvertent. Inevitably, what occurs is *omission of a merits review* of at-law of counterclaims as either compulsory or permissive. The “return to the circuit court” general roster under Rule 53(b) was automatic and proper on 10/17/2019 (R. p. 8). If a determination were to be made as to counterclaims being permissive vs. compulsory, Appellants respectfully assert the analysis by the trial court would properly need to be under the authority of N.C. Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n v. DAV Corp., 298 S.C. 514, 518, 381 S.E.2d 903, 905 (1989). This does not occur, however.

In this case record there appears to the Fields to be non-concurrence between circuit judges. (R. p. 8); *see also* R. p. 1626 at 16; *further, see* R. p. 29-33, at ¶G). It is the very reason for the

defendant's filing of a motion for recusal of Judge Bentley D. Price on June 21, 2021. (R. p. 914). Judge Price denies the recusal motion (R. p. 1633 at 15-24); *see also* (R. p. 20); but not before striking defendant's jury trial demand and referring the case onward to another judge. (R. p. 1626 lines 11-16). "*I am sending this to the master for foreclosure*" (R. p. 1620 at 16). The next judge to review the case is Robert Bonds, not master in equity Dukes who first vacates the compulsory reference. (R. p. 1626). The master in equity had vacated the compulsory reference previously on October 17, 2019. (R. p. 8.) Plaintiff sought no reconsideration of the October 17, 2019 Order of Judge Dukes, despite the Order to vacate reference being without prejudice. (R.p. 8). Plaintiff made no further motions to refer the case prior to motion to strike the defendant's jury demand. The case remains on the general docket from October 17, 2019 through April 15, 2021.

On May 11, 2021 the Fields filed yet another demand for jury trial. (R. p. 695); *see also* (R. p. 44). Under motion for amended counterclaims, the Fields allege nine (9) amended counterclaims and a third party complaint. Judge Price never evaluates the merit or character of the counterclaims before strike of the jury demand. (R. p. 1626 at 11-15). The motion to permit amended counterclaims is granted by Judge Bonds on August 12, 2021 (R. p. 29-33; R. p. 1781 at 12-17). The counterclaims challenge standing (R.p. 1664 at 19-25) and enforceability of the note and mortgage. (R. p. 1663 at 7-13). Defendant's nine counterclaims include (1) Violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, S.C. Code. Ann. §39-5-10, et. seq. (2) Civil Conspiracy; (3) Fraud and Misrepresentation; (4) Slander of Title; (5) Libel and Slander, (6) violation of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act; (7) Unjust Enrichment; (8) Quiet Title and (9) Abuse of Process. Of these nine counterclaims, at least four (4) seek recovery of monetary damages. Moreover, four (4) would implicate enforceability of the note and mortgage, if proven true. *Carolina First Bank v. BADD, L.L.C.*, 414 S.C. 289 (2015). All of these counterclaims are at law. Under the common

law of this state, “[l]egal actions for the recovery of money were triable by a jury.” Cooper v. Poston, 326 S.C. 46, 48, 483 S.E.2d 750 (1997). Article I §14 of the state constitution preserves the right to a jury trial in an action in which the claimant [here by amended counterclaims] seeks a money judgment. A monetary judgment is what defendant’s counterclaims seek. The trial court has premised its strike of jury demand on out-dated, abrogated law that ignores the adoption of Rule 13(a) SCRPC. As set forth in the supreme court precedent of Keels v. Pierce, 15 S.C. 339, 342, 433 S.E.2d 902, 904 (Ct. App. 1993) “[t]he right of trial by jury is highly favored, and waivers of the right are always strictly construed and not lightly inferred or extended by implication. In Keels, the court rejected the idea of a harsh waiver rule where the compulsory or permissive nature of a counterclaim is unclear. Id. 315 S.C. at 341-42. Concerned with the idea that a litigant might forego bringing what turned out to be a compulsory counterclaim for fear of losing his right to a jury trial, this court stated that “Rule 13, SCRPC, does not place a pleader in this dilemma. *“If it is uncertain whether a counterclaim is compulsory or permissive, the pleader may simply plead the claim and make a demand for a jury trial on it.”* Keels, 315 S.C. at 341. If the claim(s) is later found to be permissive, this court held, “the court, on its own motion or the motion of the pleader, may order a separate trial of the counterclaim pursuant to Rule 42(b) to avoid prejudice to the pleader’s right to a jury trial. Id. at 341-42. This is not what occurs on April 15, 2021. (R. p. 14). The rule pertaining to waiver of the right to trial by jury *“applies only when it is clear (*emphasis) the counterclaim is permissive[,]”* and if uncertainty exists, the pleader does not waive his right to a jury trial if the court later decides the claim is permissive. Keels, at 342.

The error of law in this case occurs where the trial court failed to employ a logical relationship test prior to strike of jury demand. (R. p. 1626 at 11-15); Moreover, under Rule 13(a) SCRPC the Fields – even as pro se litigants – were *required* to plead any claim arising out of the transaction

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