RECEIVED

Mar 17 2022

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

**APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Bentley D. Price
Circuit Court Judge**

**Appellate Case No. 2021-000504
Circuit Court Case No. 2019-CP-07-02279**

**Wilmington Savings Fund Society FSB, not in its
individual capacity, but solely as owner trustee for
CSMC 2018-RPL6 Trust,**

Respondent,

v.

**Rex A. Field, Tracy L. Field, Dulamo Estates
Homeowners' Association, Inc.,**

Defendants,

Of whom Rex A. Field and Tracy Field are the

Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**Jonathan E. Schulz (SC Bar No. 79850)
G. Benjamin Milam (SC Bar No. 80311)

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN STRIKING THE FIELDS' JURY DEMAND.

A. Standard of Review.

Normally, “[t]he matter of striking from a pleading . . . is largely within the discretion of the trial judge” such that “[t]he granting . . . of a Motion to Strike . . . will not be reversed except for an abuse of discretion or unless the action of the trial judge was controlled by an error of law.” *Brown v. Coastal States Life Ins. Co.*, 264 S.C. 190, 194, 213 S.E.2d 726, 728 (1975). However, “[w]hether a party is entitled to a jury trial is a question of law,” and “[a]n appellate court may decide questions of law with no particular deference to the trial court.” *Verenes v. Alvanos*, 387 S.C. 11, 15, 690 S.E.2d 771, 772–73 (2010).

B. Under South Carolina Law, a Counterclaim is Compulsory in the Mortgage Lending Context if it Affects the Ability to Pursue, or Otherwise Serves as a Defense to, an Underlying Claim.

Because foreclosure sounds in equity, a party to a foreclosure action is not entitled to a jury trial as a matter of right. *Wachovia Bank, Nat’l Ass’n v. Blackburn*, 407 S.C. 321, 328, 755 S.E.2d 437, 441 (2014). Rather, a party to a foreclosure action is entitled to a jury trial only where he or she asserts a counterclaim that is both legal and compulsory. *Carolina First Bank v. BADD, L.L.C.*, 414 S.C. 289, 295, 778 S.E.2d 106, 109 (2015); *S.C. Cmnty. Bank v. Salon Proz, LLC*, 420 S.C. 89, 96, 800 S.E.2d 488, 492 (Ct. App. 2017); *cf. N.C. Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n v. DAV Corp.*, 298 S.C. 514, 517, 381 S.E.2d 903, 905 (1989) (“A party does not waive its right to a jury trial on a counterclaim asserted in an equity action if the counterclaim is legal and compulsory in nature.”).

A counterclaim is either legal or equitable depending on the “‘main purpose’ in bringing the action,” which can be gleaned from both “the body of the [pleading]” as well as “the prayer for relief and any other facts and circumstances which throw light upon the main purpose of the action.” *Verenes*, 387 S.C. at 16, 690 S.E.2d at 773 (internal quotation marks omitted).

A counterclaim is compulsory under SCRCP 13(a) only “if it arises out of the transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter of the opposing party’s claim.” SCRCP 13(a). Counterclaims not arising out of the same transaction or occurrence of the leading claims are merely permissive. *See* SCRCP 13(b). South Carolina applies the logical relationship test in determining whether a counterclaim is compulsory. *See DAV Corp.*, 298 S.C. at 518, 381 S.E.2d at 905. Under this test, the logical relationship determination is made by asking whether the counterclaim would affect the plaintiff’s right to enforce its claims. *See Blackburn*, 407 S.C. at 330 n.7, 755 S.E.2d at 442 n.7.

South Carolina courts in the mortgage foreclosure context have applied the logical relationship test by evaluating whether a successfully asserted counterclaim constitutes a defense to a plaintiff’s cause(s) of action, which is typically a lender’s action for foreclosure. For instance, in *DAV Corp.*, a lender commenced an action to foreclose on a note and mortgage given to a joint venture, and one of the parties comprising the joint venture (“DAV”) asserted six counterclaims against the lender, including breach of a subsequent oral contract to provide additional funding and breach of a subsequent oral contract to purchase DAV’s interest in the joint venture. *See* 298 S.C. at 516–17, 381 S.E.2d at 904. Because DAV demanded a jury trial on its counterclaims, the Supreme Court of South Carolina was forced to determine whether DAV’s counterclaims were compulsory. *See id.* at 517, S.E.2d at 904. As to the breach of funding counterclaim, the Supreme Court found it to be compulsory because “if performed,” the oral agreement “*would have avoided* default on the note by the joint venture.” *Id.* at 518, 381 S.E.2d at 905 (emphasis added). As to the breach of purchase counterclaim, however, the Supreme Court deemed it merely permissive because if performed, the oral agreement would “not [have] affect[ed] the enforceability of the note.” *Id.*

Similarly, in *Salon Proz*, a bank filed a foreclosure complaint, the mortgagor asserted various counterclaims, and – following an order of reference to a master in equity – the mortgagor sought to transfer the matter back to the general docket, arguing it was entitled to a jury trial because its counterclaims were legal and compulsory. 420 S.C. at 92, 800 S.E.2d at 489–90. Finding that at least one of the counterclaims – a SCUTPA claim alleging a pattern of reneging on promises to modify the loans – was compulsory, this Court explained: “Were this allegation true, it could affect the loan’s enforceability.” *Id.* at 97, 800 S.E.2d at 492.

On the other hand, where a counterclaim is not a defense to an underlying claim, South Carolina courts find it to be merely permissive. In *BADD*, a bank brought a foreclosure action against a mortgagor and a guarantor, and the guarantor asserted counterclaims for civil conspiracy and breach of contract, both based on an alleged conspiracy with a third party. 414 S.C. at 291–92, 778 S.E.2d at 107. The Supreme Court of South Carolina found these counterclaims to be merely permissive because “the allegations, if true, would not render the guarantees unenforceable.” *Id.* at 296, 778 S.E.2d at 109; *see id.* 296, 778 S.E.2d at 110 (“does not affect the execution or enforceability of the guaranty agreements”).

And in the reverse context in *Deutsche Bank National Trust Company v. Estate of Houck*, 434 S.C. 500, 863 S.E.2d 829 (Ct. App. 2021), this Court recently evaluated whether an action for foreclosure was a permissive or compulsory counterclaim in the context of an action initiated by mortgagors alleging violations of South Carolina’s Attorney Preference Statute, S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-102, and SCUTPA. *Id.* at 505–09, 863 S.E.2d at 832–34. This Court concluded that foreclosure was not a compulsory counterclaim because “[the lender’s] foreclosure claim was not a defense to Mortgagors’ allegations . . . , and had [the lender] raised the foreclosure claim . . . , it

would not have affected Mortgagors' allegations pertaining to the violation of the Attorney Preference Statute." *Id.* at 508, 863 S.E.2d at 833.

DAV Corp., Salon Proz, BADD, and Houck make clear that – in the mortgage lending context – a counterclaim has a logical relationship to an underlying claim, and is therefore compulsory, if it would operate as a defense to the underlying claim. Where the counterclaim would not affect the viability of the underlying claim, it is not compulsory.⁶

C. Because the Fields' counterclaims would not affect the enforceability of Wilmington's foreclosure, the trial court properly struck the Fields' jury demand.

The occurrence that gave rise to Wilmington's foreclosure action was the Fields' default on the Note. "[T]he party seeking foreclosure has the burden of establishing the existence of the debt and the mortgagor's default on that debt." *U.S. Bank Trust Nat'l Assn'n v. Bell*, 385 S.C. 364, 374–75, 684 S.E.2d 199, 205 (Ct. App. 2009). "Once the debt and default have been established, the mortgagor has the burden of establishing a defense to foreclosure such as lack of consideration, payment, or accord and satisfaction." *Id.*

The Fields' counterclaims present no such defense. The Fields argue only that "at least four (4) [of the counterclaims] seek recovery of monetary damages" and "four (4) would implicate enforceability of the note and mortgage." (Appellants' Brief at 9). On another occasion, the Fields

⁶ Rather than focus on any common usage and meaning of the phrase "logical relationship," this Court should instead construe that standard by looking to the construction given to the phrase by other South Carolina courts – e.g., *DAV Corp., Salon Proz, BADD, and Houck* – in the mortgage lending context. *Cf. Gammons v. Domestic Loans of Winston-Salem, Inc.*, 423 F. Supp. 819, 821 (M.D.N.C. 1979) (finding lender's action on debt not a compulsory counterclaim in Truth in Lending Act action brought by borrower; explaining "While there appears to exist a logical relationship between the two claims, a precise examination undertaken in light of the different facts and law relevant to the separate claims reveals that the relationship is more illusory than real."); *Ball v. Conn. Bank & Trust Co.*, 404 F. Supp. 1, 4 (D. Conn. 1975) (explaining in same context, "wooden application of the common transaction label does not yield real judicial economy; any perceived logical nexus is conceptual, abstract, a formal characterization rather than a recognition of concrete advantage to be achieved through single forum adjudication of all the parties' opposing claims").

contend only that “[a]t least three (3) of defendant’s at-law counterclaims” are allegedly compulsory. (*Id.* at 10–11). But in both scenarios, the Fields leave both Wilmington and this Court to guess the counterclaims to which they refer, on which they apparently rely. Even assuming *arguendo* that some of the Fields’ counterclaims are legal, none of the counterclaims is compulsory.

The counterclaims (and third-party claims) in the Fields’ First Amended Answer—spanning 286 numbered paragraphs—generally allege a broad conspiracy between Wilmington, Fannie Mae, and the other third-party defendants,⁷ to defraud the Fields, other homeowners in South Carolina, and other homeowners across the country,⁸ with a particular focus on the securitization and subsequent assignments of the Note. As it relates to the Fields’ specific counterclaims, they generally allege as follows:

- **SCUTPA:** “elaborate scheme to defraud unsuspecting homeowners of their homes in South Carolina and nationally” (First Amended Answer ¶ 804); “notary fraud and regular pattern and practice of filing false and perjured documents in the public records” (*id.* ¶ 813);
- **Civil Conspiracy:** “fraud upon Homeowners through fraudulent threats of foreclosure and fraudulent foreclosure filings” (*id.* ¶ 841);
- **Fraud and Misrepresentation:** “statements as to alleged ‘ownership’ of the purported note and/or mortgage and the legal entitlement to demand monies from Homeowners and institute foreclosure proceedings were false statements of material fact” (*id.* ¶ 856);
- **Slander of Title by Disparagement of Title:** “an improper foreclosure lawsuit and Lis Pendens which were false, done with malice, [and] published in the public records of the courts and property records of Beaufort County, SC which disparaged their property” (*id.* ¶ 883);

⁷ The Fields’ third-party claims—regardless of their nature—do not entitle them to a jury trial because third-party claims are permissive. *See Dav. Corp.*, 298 S.C. at 519, 381 S.E.2d at 906.

⁸ Despite the fact that the Fields plead their counterclaims as if they are asserted on behalf of a large group of allegedly aggrieved homeowners (akin to class action claims), the Fields are the only defendants at the trial court level (following Dulamo’s dismissal, *see supra* n.3), and they are the only Appellants on appeal.

- **Libel and Slander:** “published statements and spoken statements concerning the Homeowners” including “statements to the effect that the Homeowners is [sic] currently delinquent in its payments, which statements “tended to impeach the honesty, integrity, virtue, creditworthiness, business soundness, and/or reputation of the Homeowners” (*id.* ¶¶ 891–93);
- **Fair Debt Collections Practices Act:** “wrongfully, improperly, and illegally reported negative information as to the Homeowners to one or more Credit Reporting Agencies” (*id.* ¶ 900);
- **Unjust Enrichment:** “wrongfully collected and/or attempted to collect payments from Defendants” (*id.* ¶ 913);
- **Quiet Title:** “Homeowners are entitled to quiet title” because “[t]he security was a ‘securitized’ bond deriving its value from the underlying mortgages of which the purported mortgage is no longer one” (*id.* ¶ 918); and
- **Abuse of Process:** “improper use of process by filing the Lis Pendens and Complaint” (*id.* ¶ 922).⁹

None of these counterclaims is a defense to Wilmington’s foreclosure action, nor do they affect the enforceability of Wilmington’s foreclosure. The Fields are not contending that they are current on the Note or otherwise disputing their default. Instead, the Fields are making every

⁹ Because the nature of these counterclaims—*i.e.*, legal or equitable, compulsory or permissive—is the only legal issue for this Court to decide on appeal, Wilmington would have expected the Fields to focus on which counterclaims allegedly support their argument, and why those counterclaims are purportedly legal and compulsory. Instead, the Fields’ Appellants’ Brief focuses on irrelevant details of the trial court proceedings (as explained below) and otherwise merely states “four (4) [of the counterclaims] would implicate enforceability of the note and mortgage.” (Appellants’ Brief at 9). Having failed to articulate the basis for their argument in their Appellants’ Brief, the Fields have arguably abandoned the issue altogether. *See Carolina Renewal, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 385 S.C. 550, 557 & n.3, 684 S.E.2d 779, 783 & n.3 (Ct. App. 2009) (concluding that argument: “[n]one of the elements for res judicata, collateral estoppel, or issue preclusion are present in this case” was too conclusory to preserve appellate challenge to application of collateral estoppel, and deeming the issue abandoned). In the very least, the Fields should not be permitted to argue in their Reply Brief—for the first time—which counterclaims are legal and compulsory, and why, thereby depriving Wilmington of an opportunity to respond. *See Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fidel. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 692 (Ct. App. 2001) (“[E]ven though [appellant] more fully addressed the issue in its reply brief, an argument made in a reply brief cannot present an issue to the appellate court if it was not addressed in the initial brief.”).

possible argument in a last-ditch attempt to avoid foreclosure, even going so far as to allege “[i]t is legally impossible for any person or entity to have a valid and enforceable note to foreclose on the real property [of the] Homeowners.” (First Amended Answer ¶ 857). Having failed to dispute or counter any of the elements Wilmington must prove to establish its foreclosure action, the Fields cannot show that any of their counterclaims affect the enforceability of the Note. As a result, the Fields are not entitled to a jury trial, and the trial court properly struck their jury demand.¹⁰

II. THE FIELDS’ MYRIAD ARGUMENTS ARE EITHER WITHOUT MERIT, OR NOT RELEVANT TO THIS APPEAL, OR BOTH.

Although the Fields do not identify the counterclaims they believe are legal and compulsory, they do make myriad additional arguments that can be addressed summarily, either because they are irrelevant to the narrow issue on appeal, or they are without merit, or both:

- Ten-Day Notice of Hearing—The Fields repeatedly mention an alleged failure to properly notice a hearing (Appellants’ Brief at 6–7), including in an apparent argument heading (*id.* at 3 (“NO TEN DAY NOTICE OF HEARING”)), seemingly in reference to the requirement that notice of a hearing “shall be served not later than ten days before” the hearing. SCRCP 6(d). But the Fields did not make this argument with respect to the Motion before the trial court, so they cannot make it here on appeal. *See Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.” (internal quotation marks omitted)).¹¹
- Premature Striking of Jury Demand—The Fields also argue that the trial court erred in striking their jury demand because “discovery was yet incomplete” (Appellants’ Brief at

¹⁰ To the extent the Fields contend that their counterclaims challenge Wilmington’s standing to enforce the Note (*see* Appellants’ Brief at 11 (referring to “the legal concept of standing”)), any such claim is permissive because “it does not affect the execution or enforceability of the [Note],” *BADD*, 414 S.C. at 296, 778 S.E.2d at 110. That is because Wilmington will appear at trial with the Note endorsed to bearer. *Compare* S.C. Code Ann. § 36-3-301 (providing that holder of an instrument is entitled to enforce it), *with id.* § 36-1-201(b)(21)(A) (providing that holder of an instrument includes “the person in possession of a negotiable instrument that is payable . . . to bearer”). Thus, regardless of the evidence the Fields might marshal or the arguments they might make, Wilmington will be able to establish its standing to enforce the Note by virtue of its possession of the Note. The Fields’ counterclaims do not—and cannot—change that.

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